8

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Spartanburg County  
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

OCT 16 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STEPHENO JEMAIN ALSTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002089  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence found in his vehicle where the officer did not have reasonable suspicion or probable cause to stop Appellant's car for a traffic violation thereby illegally seizing Appellant in violation of the Fourth Amendment?

2.

Did the court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence found in his vehicle where the officer's continued detention of Appellant exceeded the scope of the traffic stop and constituted a seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment and where the officer did not have reasonable and articulable suspicion of a serious crime nor Appellant's consent to detain him beyond the scope of the traffic stop?

3.

Did the court err by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence found in his vehicle where Appellant's consent to search was not freely and voluntarily given, and even if it was freely and voluntarily given, was invalid as an exploitation of an unlawful detention?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the June 20, 2011 term of General Sessions for trafficking in cocaine. R. 211 – R. 212. His case was called to trial on March 18, 2013 before the Honorable J. Derham Cole, and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was tried in his absence after he did not appear for trial. R. 6, ll. 20-25; R. 97, l. 3 – 98, l. 9. Andrew J. Johnston represented Appellant and J. Edward Hunter was the assistant solicitor. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on March 19, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 202, ll. 19-25. On September 19, 2013, the sealed sentence was opened. R. 203. Judge Cole sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years imprisonment and a \$200,000 fine. R. 206, ll. 20-24.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **Motion to Suppress**

Appellant moved pretrial to suppress the cocaine seized from his vehicle in violation of the Fourth Amendment. R. 7, ll. 24-25. The state called Sergeant Donnie Gilbert of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office in response to Appellant's motion.

#### **A. Testimony**

Sergeant Gilbert testified that on Monday, March 28, 2011, he was monitoring traffic on Interstate 85. R. 12, ll. 13-17. Gilbert explained that he was parked perpendicular to traffic on the northbound side of the interstate when he "observed a Hyundai Santa Fe pass [his] location and failed to maintain its lane." He claimed, "[A]fter it passed by me its left side tire struck the dotted line that divides the middle lane, which it was traveling in, and the fast lane, which would've been to its left. Then it drifted back into the middle of that middle lane." Gilbert testified that once he caught up to the vehicle, he activated his blue lights and the driver pulled over to the "emergency shoulder" on the right side of the road. R. 12, l. 22 – 14, l. 10.

Gilbert explained that as he approached the vehicle, "the first thing [he] noticed was in the rear cargo area there was some luggage covered up by a blanket." R. 16, ll. 3-6. He said, "That's not common with the motoring public that I come into contact with every day. You just don't see that. You don't see the people to actually take the time to cover it with a blanket. They put their luggage in there and go." R. 40, l. 19 – 41, l. 2.

After noticing the luggage, Gilbert said he walked to the passenger side window and the driver, who was later identified as Appellant, immediately asked him "why he was being stopped." R. 16, ll. 5-9. Gilbert claimed that Appellant's question was not "normal." He

said, "It's not consistent with the innocent motoring public. Ninety-nine percent of the time [motorists] will let - - they will let me explain why, basically get to that point." R. 17, ll. 2-6.

After obtaining Appellant's driver's license, Gilbert learned Appellant's identity and that he was from Rome, Georgia, which the officer knew was south of Atlanta. The fact that Appellant was from an area near Atlanta caused Gilbert some concern. He explained, "Me being involved in the interdiction community, Atlanta is a major hub for criminal activity in the southeast." Gilbert also explained that the fact that Appellant was traveling on Interstate 85 also caused him some concern. He said, "Again, me being involved in the interdiction community, Interstate 85 is a major criminal activity corridor connecting Atlanta to many routes to the south and to the north of that." R. 17, l. 8 – 18, l. 6.

Gilbert testified that he asked Appellant for the paperwork for the vehicle and Appellant produced a rental contract. R. 18, ll. 10-13. Gilbert learned from the contract that the car was rented in Cartersville, Georgia, which is also in the Atlanta area. The car was rented on Saturday, March 26, 2011, which was two days before the stop, to a Tomeka Harris.<sup>1</sup> Gilbert explained that the fact that the vehicle was rented to a third party raised his suspicion because "in [his] training and experience, that is very common when it comes to criminal activity. They will have a third-party rental in their possession. That way if they are involved in criminal activity they're not in their vehicle. So that vehicle won't get seized when they get caught." R. 20, l. 13 – 21, l. 2. Gilbert also said that he thought it was suspicious that the car was rented in a female's name because "a lot of your criminal organizations will rent a vehicle in a woman's name for the simple fact that law enforcement

---

<sup>1</sup> This person is also referred to as Tomesha Harris in other places in the record.

does not - - they are not threatened by a woman. They don't recognize criminal activity with a female. At least that's what the drug trafficking organizations think." R. 21, ll. 3-11.

Gilbert further explained that the rental contract indicated that the car was only allowed to be operated in five states: Georgia, Tennessee, Kentucky, Virginia, and West Virginia. Since Appellant was stopped in South Carolina, he was driving the vehicle in a state that was not listed on the rental contract as a place where Appellant was permitted to travel. R. 21, ll. 12-24. Gilbert said, "Another thing that raised a big flag with me is why he's putting the states on here like Georgia, Tennessee, Kentucky, West Virginia, and Virginia. In my mind that automatically makes me think that from the beginning of the trip he was trying to avoid Interstate 85." R. 26, ll. 10-14.

Additionally, Gilbert testified, "There was a key in the ignition that is consistent with the car being a rental, just one key. And on the key ring there was two house keys on the key ring, which is very odd. I mean, you don't see that. Anytime somebody rents a vehicle, in my training and experience and in the fourteen years of being involved in law enforcement, you don't see other people took or take their house keys and put [them] on the key ring for the rental. To us, in my training and experience, they're trying to personalize the vehicle." R. 22, ll. 13-25.

Gilbert explained that he eventually asked Appellant to get out of the car and stand near his patrol vehicle and, as Appellant did so, Gilbert noticed an air freshener in the "driver's door pocket." He said, "To me, that's also odd because in a rental vehicle you just don't see people go straight to a store and buy an air freshener and put it in a rental vehicle if it's not yours." Gilbert said that an air freshener "could be used as a masking agent to hide

odors of other things, which could be drugs, could be anything that he's trying to hide that he doesn't want you to smell.”<sup>2</sup> R. 23, l. 1 – 24, l. 24.

When questioned by Gilbert, Appellant told him that Tomeka Harris was his girlfriend. Appellant also explained that he was traveling to Newark, New Jersey to pick up his mother and bring her back to Georgia with him for Mother's Day. Gilbert said this was “another red flag” since New Jersey was another state not listed on the rental agreement and because Mother's Day was not until May and this was the end of March. R. 25, l. 15 – 27, l. 6. Appellant later explained to Gilbert that he was concerned about his mother's health and was afraid that she was not being honest about her condition so “[he] figured [he] would go up there and see what's going on.” R. 35, ll. 1-5.

Gilbert also testified that he asked Appellant how long he planned on staying in New Jersey and Appellant “advised somewhere around a week, yeah, something like that, just whenever [his mother] gets ready to leave, when [Appellant] get[s] rested up.” Gilbert said that he specifically asked Appellant if he was going to stay in New Jersey until the following Monday and Appellant said, “Yeah, something like that . . .” Gilbert noted that the rental vehicle was due back the upcoming Saturday, which was two days before Appellant said that he expected to head back to Georgia. R. 34, l. 20 – 35, l. 21; R. 27, l. 10 – 28, l. 1.

While Gilbert was writing Appellant a warning ticket for failure to maintain a lane, the officer asked Appellant what he did for a living. Gilbert testified that Appellant told him he owned a clothing store in Rome, Georgia, and that “he had to make a living somehow, he

---

<sup>2</sup> While Gilbert claimed during the suppression hearing that cocaine has an odor depending on its volume and the way it is packaged, he admitted that he did not smell any cocaine that day and, later during his trial testimony, that he could not smell an odor coming from the four hundred and thirty-four grams of cocaine seized in this case and admitted in to evidence. R. 51, l. 9 – 52, l. 6; R. 144, l. 25 – 145, l. 13; R. 169, ll. 21-22.

had six kids to feed.” Gilbert asked Appellant how old his children were and Appellant allegedly gave the ages of seven kids. When asked by the solicitor what this meant to him, Gilbert testified, “He’s not keeping up with - - it’s the stress of the situation. He’s not even being able to keep up with how old the kids are and how many he’s got.” R. 33, l. 7 – 34, l. 11.

Gilbert said that after he checked Appellant’s license, he went back to his vehicle and called Deputy Jason Carraway. Gilbert testified that he was trying “to figure out if [Carraway] was close to [him] or not.” However, Carraway responded that he had to go home to pick up his drug dog and then come back. Since Carraway would not be able to respond to the scene with his drug dog for some time, Gilbert explained, “I went ahead and switched to channel 1 to see if anybody on uniform patrol was close to me at that point in time.” Gilbert said, “They had somebody coming to me, but I think it was - - they didn’t say how long it was going to be, but [the person coming] wasn’t necessarily in the same area as me.” R. 31, ll. 1-11.

Gilbert stated that he continued to wait for another law enforcement officer to arrive at the scene. He testified that he knew he was going to ask Appellant for consent to search his vehicle, but he explained, “I’ve done got to the point to where I’m not going to ask for consent until I actually get somebody else there with me for the simple fact that a lot of times things start getting a lot - - a little tense and people start figuring out what’s actually going on when you start asking for consent to search.” R. 35, l. 22 – 36, l. 21.

About sixteen minutes and thirty seconds into the traffic stop, and after “First Sergeant Barnett from the uniform patrol” arrived on scene, Gilbert asked Appellant for consent to search his car. R. 38, l. 25 – 39, l. 1. He testified, “I then asked for consent to

search the vehicle. And instead of answering the question, which I encounter sometimes, Mr. Alston explained, 'I'm just trying to figure all - - what all this is about.' I advised him that I'm just asking a question. He said, I mean yeah you can search it, quoting him." Gilbert explained that Appellant then asked him "why you want to search the vehicle? And [Gilbert] explained to him I'm not going to answer that until everything's done." At some point, Gilbert claimed that he advised Appellant that he had a right to refuse consent, but Appellant still indicated to Gilbert that he could search the vehicle. R. 37, l. 6 – 38, l. 21. Gilbert then began to search Appellant's car and "Captain Hollifield and Deputy Carraway arrived at the scene shortly thereafter and assisted as well." R. 40, ll. 7-10.

On cross-examination, Gilbert testified that before he pulled Appellant over, Appellant's left tire "struck" the dotted line dividing the middle lane and the fast lane. He explained, "Now, when I say struck, what I would mean by that is that tire could have covered that whole line, but it didn't go all the way across it. But it did make contact with that line and then drift back into the middle of that lane." Gilbert admitted that Appellant never crossed the dotted line. Appellant merely "rode on top of it." R. 43, l. 21 – 45, l. 2.

Gilbert conceded that when he approached the passenger window, he did not see any guns or any other weapons nor did he smell alcohol, marijuana, or cocaine. R. 50, l. 14 – 52, l. 6. He explained that he called both the tag for the vehicle and Appellant's driver's license into dispatch and both came back "clear." He testified, "Everything was clear on his license, and the tag came back to that vehicle." R. 53, l. 21 – 54, l. 24. Gilbert maintained that he learned this information from dispatch while he was writing Appellant a warning for failure to maintain a lane. R. 54, l. 25 – 55, l. 5.

Gilbert said he finished filling out the warning ticket after another officer arrived on scene, but he claimed that he could not remember whether he had completed the warning ticket when he asked Appellant for consent to search the car. He testified, "At this point in time, I don't know. I can't tell you one way or the other because I don't remember." After a lot of back and forth with defense counsel, Gilbert said, "It's not on camera, so I really don't know. If we can watch the tape to try to figure it out, that's fine with me, but at this point in time I can't tell you one way or the other." But Gilbert did explain that he never gave the warning ticket to Appellant nor did he return Appellant's license and paperwork before he asked for consent to search. Gilbert also admitted that the warning form was very simple and it required very little information to complete. R. 59, l. 1 – 60, l. 11; R. 61, l. 12 – 63, l. 15.

Additionally, Gilbert testified that he did not inform Appellant that he was free to leave before he asked for consent to search the car. He said, "In my judgment [he was] not free to leave as it is." **Gilbert clarified that even though he had checked Appellant's license and paperwork, which came back clear, and had written Appellant a warning, he did not think Appellant was free to leave.** R. 63, l. 16 – 64, l. 13 (emphasis added). Gilbert refused to speculate whether Appellant believed at that point that he was free to leave. But he did admit again that he had not informed Appellant he was free to leave and, at this point, a second police officer had arrived on scene and parked behind Gilbert's vehicle. R. 64, l. 14 – 65, l. 15.

**Gilbert further explained that after this second officer arrived on scene and Gilbert had finished writing the warning ticket, but had not given it to Appellant, he asked Appellant for consent to search the car.** When asked for consent to search, Gilbert

claimed Appellant responded that he was “just trying to figure out what this is all about.” However, according to Gilbert, Appellant eventually told Gilbert that he could search his car. Gilbert then began to approach Appellant’s car, but hesitated and walked back to Appellant. He then told Appellant that he could refuse consent, but, despite informing Appellant he could refuse, Appellant allegedly told Gilbert he could search the car. Appellant did say at one point, however, that “I’m not giving you consent, you the one giving consent.” Appellant also repeatedly asked why Gilbert wanted to search the car. R. 66, l. 3 – 69, l. 17 (emphasis added). Gilbert ultimately searched Appellant’s vehicle and, with the assistance of Captain Hollifield, discovered cocaine in the steering column. R. 156, l. 21 – 159, l. 21.

Gilbert again conceded that **at the time he asked for consent to search, he had not seen or smelled any drugs or alcohol nor had he seen any weapons. He also said that he had checked Appellant’s license, the vehicle tag, and the rental agreement, and all were valid.** Gilbert explained that he ultimately asked Appellant for consent to search the car after he had observed behavior he found to be suspicious and after noting that Appellant was traveling from the Atlanta area on Interstate 85. R. 69, l. 20 – 70, l. 25 (emphasis added).

## **B. Arguments**

After Gilbert had finished testifying, defense counsel told the court that he had “some concern about the initial reason for the stop.” He said, “The officer stated that the vehicle being driven by Mr. Alston never crossed the dotted line, but he used the word struck, that [the car] had struck [the line] and then it went back into his lane, which

would've been the proper thing to do." Defense counsel argued that this was not a "sufficient basis for the stop." R. 84, l. 16 – 85, l. 5.

Defense counsel also argued that there was no valid consent to search the vehicle. He pointed out that Appellant unequivocally stated "that I'm not giving consent, you're giving consent." However, defense counsel argued that "if there was, in fact, a valid consent, it was obtained by prolonged detention." Defense counsel explained that after the officer determined that Appellant had a valid license and that the vehicle tag was clear, he wrote Appellant a warning. R. 85, l. 6 – 86, l. 5. He said:

[B]ut the officer did not give the warning to Mr. Alston, we would argue, because the officer was stalling for time to allow another officer to come on the scene.

There is no clear delineation between the end of the stop and the request for consent. They run completely into one another. The officer never says, okay, I've checked you out, here's your citation, you can leave. Oh, and by the way, do you mind if I search your car? There is no such demarcation between those two things in this case.

Your honor, it is our position that Mr. Alston was illegally seized at that point because the purpose of the stop had been fulfilled. As I said earlier, all of the things that the officer's entitled to do had been done and the officer had begun to write the warning citation with that very little bit of information that it requires.

So we move from a situation where he doesn't have anything left to do with the traffic stop and he begins to conduct a narcotics investigation. But he's conducting that narcotics investigation without reasonable articulable suspicion.

Mr. Alston was not free to go per the officer. And I think the officer concedes that Mr. Alston would have known that he wasn't free to leave. The fact that another officer had come on the scene, the fact that he'd been pulled over with a blue light, the fact that the officer was [in] uniform, has his guns, gun with him, I think that Mr. Alston is at that point

seized. And I would argue to the court that based on the cases that that seizure, that second seizure was in violation of the Fourth Amendment because it was without probable cause and without reasonable articulable suspicion.

R. 86, l. 5 – 87, l. 11.

The solicitor argued in response that the officer had probable cause that a traffic violation had occurred, had reasonable articulable suspicion to detain Appellant longer than necessary to issue the warning ticket, and that Appellant had voluntarily consented to the search. Therefore, the state concluded that the cocaine should not be suppressed. R. 95, ll. 9-15. The solicitor claimed Gilbert had reasonable articulable suspicion to prolong the stop because of a multitude of factors including (1) Interstate 85 is a “known criminal corridor;” (2) Atlanta is a “source city for drugs;” (3) the discrepancies between Appellant’s answers and the rental agreement; (4) the luggage was covered by a blanket; (5) the additional keys on the key ring; (6) the air freshener found in the car; and (7) the third party rental. R. 90, l. 12 - 93, l. 18.

### **C. Court Ruling**

The court held, “I find that the stop made by the officer was pursuant to a valid traffic stop, that it was based upon probable cause, that the detention resulting from that stop was based upon the totality of the circumstances as presented by the evidence in this cause, was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment and that the search made of the vehicle which resulted in the seizure of evidence to be used in the trial against him was based upon consent and in this case with actual acknowledge of his right to refuse consent. All right. And, therefore, the motion to suppress is denied.” R. 98, ll. 10-20.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence found in his vehicle where the officer did not have reasonable suspicion or probable cause to stop Appellant's car for a traffic violation.

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