ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002089

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

STEPHENO JEMAIN ALSTON,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

OCT 16 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

the double yellow lines and it did not completely cross into the opposing lane. Id. This Court held that the defendant's action of crossing into the area between the double yellow lines that separated the opposing lanes of traffic was, in and of itself, a violation of S.C. Code § 56-5-1900(a). Id. at 353-54, 734 S.E.2d at 185. This Court pointed out there was testimony establishing there were no other cars on the road that would have prompted the defendant's decision to cross the center line; consequently, this Court concluded it was practicable for the defendant to remain within his lane of traffic. Id. at 353, 734 S.E.2d at 185. Therefore, this Court found that the trooper's stop of the defendant's vehicle was justified. Id. at 353-54, 734 S.E.2d at 185.

The Vinson court noted that there is a "split of authority" in cases from other jurisdictions regarding the interpretation of similar "failure to maintain a single lane" statutes; however, the court stated it was "persuaded by the line of cases in which courts have found the purpose of the 'as nearly as practicable' language is to keep both drivers and pedestrians safe, not to allow motorists the option of when they will or will not abide by a lane requirement." Id. at 354, 734 S.E.2d at 185 n3 (citing U.S. v. Bassols, 775 F.Supp.2d 1293, 1300-01 (D.N.M.2011); People v. Smith, 172 Ill.2d 289, 216 Ill.Dec. 658, 665 N.E.2d 1215, 1218-19 (1996); State v. Hodge, 147 Ohio App.3d 550, 771 N.E.2d 331, 338 (2002); and State v. McBroom, 179 Or.App. 120, 39 P.3d 226, 228-29 (2002)).

In the first case cited by the Vinson court, the United States District Court addressed the issue of "whether a driver who drives on the line or stripe that divides a lane of traffic from another lane or on the line or stripe that separates a lane from the shoulder of the road violates a New Mexico statute that requires persons to drive 'as

nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane.” Bassols, 775 F.Supp.2d at 1295-96. More specifically, the New Mexico statute stated as follows: “Whenever any roadway has been divided into two or more clearly marked lanes for traffic the following rules in addition to all others consistent herewith shall apply: A. a vehicle shall be driven as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane and shall not be moved from such lane until the driver has first ascertained that such movement can be made with safety.” N.M. Stat. Ann. § 66-7-317. Note that with the exception of one word (“such” instead of “the”), New Mexico’s statute is identical to South Carolina’s statute. The Bassols court looked to the plain language of the statute and concluded that the purpose of the statute was clearly to promote roadway safety. Bassols at 1300. In rejecting the defendant’s argument that a person who drives on top of a dividing lane marker is still “entirely within a single lane,” the court pointed out that “if a lane of traffic is defined to include the lane dividing lines, then there would be an overlap between each lane on a roadway and two vehicles could legally occupy the same physical space at the same time despite the fact that the vehicles would collide.” Id. at 1300-01. The court concluded that construing the statute in the manner advocated by the defendant would lead to an absurd result and be contrary to the legislature’s purpose of promoting roadway safety. Id. at 1301. Thus, the Bassols court held that the “single lane” as contemplated by the New Mexico legislature encompasses only the portion of the roadway that is between the lines or stripes that demarcate the “single lane,” and that a driver who drives on a lane marker has necessarily failed to drive entirely within a single lane. Id.

In another case cited by this Court in Vinson, People v. Smith, the defendant argued that two “momentary” drifts into an adjacent lane did not violate the state’s failure

to maintain a single lane statute (which is also nearly identical to South Carolina's statute) and that a person could only violate this statute by endangering others while moving from a lane of traffic. People v. Smith, 172 Ill.2d 289, 296, 665 N.E.2d 1215, 1218 (1996). In rejecting this argument, the Illinois Supreme Court found as follows:

The plain language of the statute establishes two separate requirements for lane usage. First, a motorist must drive a vehicle as nearly as practicable entirely within one lane. Second, a motorist may not move a vehicle from a lane of traffic until the motorist has determined that the movement can be safely made. It follows that when a motorist crosses over a lane line and is not driving as nearly as practicable within one lane, the motorist has violated the statute. Once Officer Charles saw defendant cross over a lane line and drive in two lanes of traffic, Officer Charles had probable cause to arrest defendant for a violation of the Code.

Id. at 296-97, 665 N.E.2d at 1218-19.

The Oregon Court of Appeals reached a similar conclusion in State v. McBroom, 179 Or.App. 120, 39 P.3d 226 (Or. App. Ct. 2002). In McBroom, an officer stopped the defendant after observing him driving on top of the closer of the double yellow dividing lines and staying on that line for at least three-hundred feet. McBroom at 122, 39 P.3d at 227. The statute at issue in that case stated that a person commits the offense of "failure to drive within a lane" if the person operates a vehicle on a roadway that is divided into two or more clearly marked lanes for traffic and the driver does not "(a) operate the vehicle as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane; and (b) [r]efrain from moving from that lane until the driver has first made certain that the movement can be made with safety." Id. at 123, 39 P.3d at 228. Looking to the statute's text and policy, the court rejected the defendant's argument that he stayed within a single lane even though his tires were on the double yellow line. Id. at 123-24, 39 P.3d at 228. The court reasoned that the text of the statute indicated the legislature intended that drivers stay

“within” the lines that mark the lanes and that “the legislature did not intend to permit opposing motorists to vie for control of the center dividing line.” Id. The court also pointed out that the policy of the statute - to provide maximum safety for all persons who travel or otherwise use the public highways of the state - was defeated if the defendant’s position was correct. Id.

The McBroom court pointed out that the statutory requirement that a driver stay “entirely within a single lane” is not absolute because it modifies the phrase with “as nearly as practicable.” Id. The court stated that “[p]racticable means ‘possible to practice or perform,’ ‘capable of being put into practice, done or accomplished’ or ‘feasible,’” and that what is practicable or feasible will vary with the circumstances of each case. Id. at 124-25, 39 P.3d at 228. The court then stated that “[t]here is nothing in this record, however, to suggest the defendant failed to stay within his lane because he was responding to an apparent hazard or because he had some other valid reason for leaving his lane. Rather, defendant drove for more than 300 feet on the center line for no apparent reason. Given those facts, the officer reasonably believed that defendant had failed to stay ‘within his lane’ in violation of subsection (a) of the statute.” Id. at 125, 39 P.3d at 228-29. The court then noted that “[t]his is not a case in which the defendant’s car tires touched the center line only briefly. We accordingly need not decide whether that act, standing alone, would give an officer probable cause to believe that a driver had failed to operate his or her car ‘as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane.’” Id.

The defendant in McBroom also argued in the alternative that, even if he failed to stay entirely within a single lane, he still did not violate the statute unless he also failed to comply with part (b), which required that a driver refrain from moving from his or her

lane until the driver has first made certain the movement can be made with safety. Id. The court rejected this argument, stating that it disagreed that subsection (b) “permits a driver to stray from his or her lane (or straddle two lanes) as long as he or she can do so safely.” Id. The court reasoned as follows:

Subsection (a) thus states the general rule - a driver should operate his or her vehicle “as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane.” Subsection (b) states when a driver may depart from that rule. By its plain language, however, subsection (b) does not excuse drivers from staying within their lanes unless (1) they are moving from one lane to another and (2) they first make certain that they can do so safely.

Id. at 125-26, 39 P.3d at 229. The court pointed out that the defendant was not claiming he was moving from one lane to another at the time of the alleged violation, and, in any event, “the officer reasonably could have concluded that defendant was not moving from one lane to another when he failed to stay within his lane.” Id. Thus, the McBroom court held that the officer had probable cause to believe the defendant violated the statute and that the trial court correctly denied the motion to suppress. Id.

In State v. Hodge, 147 Ohio App.3d 550, 771 N.E.2d 331 (Ohio App. Ct. 2002), the Ohio Court of Appeals also addressed the propriety of a traffic stop for an alleged violation of a nearly identical “failure to maintain a single lane” statute. In Hodge, the officer observed the defendant drifting over into an adjacent lane, although the officer testified this partial crossing posed little danger because there was no other traffic on the road at the time. Hodge at 552-53, 771 N.E.2d at 333. The appellate court first noted that beginning in 1994, the Ohio courts repeatedly held that “insubstantial drifts” across lane lines did not give rise to reasonable and articulable suspicion to make a traffic stop. Id. at 555, 771 N.E.2d at 335. However, the court found that these cases were of limited precedential value in light of the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Whren v.

United States, 517 U.S. 806 (1996), which held that even a *de minimis* violation of a traffic law gives rise to a reasonable suspicion to make an investigatory stop of a vehicle. Id. at 555-57, 771 N.E.2d at 335-36. Thus, the court explicitly overruled these pre-Whren cases. Id. at 557, 771 N.E.2d at 337.

The Hodge court then stated that the necessary analysis focuses upon the meaning of “practicable” in reference to maintaining a vehicle within a lane pursuant to the statute. Id. Using the ordinary definition of the word and common sense, the court stated that “practicable” meant “performable, feasible, possible.” Id. at 558, 771 N.E.2d at 337. The court noted that other jurisdictions generally agree with this definition. Id. at 558, 771 N.E.2d at 338. The court then ruled that “[w]hen read in this context, the statute without question mandates drivers to maintain their vehicle (sic) within a lane without some kind of exigent circumstance forcing the vehicle operator to do otherwise.” Id. The court explained:

The legislature did not intend for a motorist to be punished when road debris or a parked vehicle makes it necessary to travel outside the lane. Nor, we are quite certain, did the legislature intend this statute to punish motorists for traveling outside their lane to avoid striking a child or animal. We are equally certain the legislature did not intend the statute to give motorists the *option* of staying within the lane at their choosing. Common sense dictates that the statute is designed to keep travelers, both in vehicles and pedestrians, safe. The logical conclusion is that the legislature intended only special circumstances to be valid reasons to leave a lane, not mere inattentiveness or carelessness. To believe that the statute was intended to allow motorists the option of when they will or will not abide by the lane requirement is simply not reasonable.

Id. (emphasis in original). The court concluded that “Hodge committed a readily apparent traffic violation: he left the lane in which he was traveling when it was practicable to stay within his own lane of travel.” Because of this, and because the officer also witnessed

two other traffic violations, the court concluded the officer had a reasonable and articulable suspicion that a violation of the law occurred. Id. at 560, 771 N.E.2d at 339.

In Appellant's case, Deputy Gilbert had probable cause to stop Appellant's vehicle for a violation of S.C. Code § 56-5-1900(a) based upon Appellant's driving on top of the lane marker "several times." (R. p. 13, line 23 – p. 14, line 3). As noted in Vinson, a motorist cannot be driving "entirely within" a single lane if he or she is driving on top of the lane marker because such an interpretation would lead to the absurd result that two vehicles could both properly occupy the same space at the same time. Vinson at 354, 734 S.E.2d at 185 n3 (citing U.S. v. Bassols, 775 F.Supp.2d 1293, 1300–01 (D.N.M.2011)). Further, as was also noted in Vinson, the purpose of the statute is to keep both drivers and pedestrians safe, "not to allow motorists the option of when they will or will not abide by a lane requirement." Id.; cf. State v. Parker, 271 S.C. 159, 161, 245 S.E.2d 904, 905 (1978) (construing S.C. Code § 56-5-1810, which requires, among other things, that vehicles be driven on the right half of the roadway subject to certain exceptions). Therefore, Appellant's driving on top of the lane marker meant he was not "entirely within" a single lane.

Moreover, just as in the Vinson case, there was no evidence it was not "practicable" for Appellant to stay entirely within his lane at the time.⁴ "Practicable" has been defined as "reasonably capable of being accomplished, feasible." Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009). Our Supreme Court has defined it in other settings to mean "reasonably possible" or "that which is possible of reasonable performance" or "capable of and being done or performed." See Woody v. S.C. Power Co., 202 S.C.

⁴ Note that Appellant did not argue at trial or on appeal that it was not practicable for him to drive within his lane. (See R. p. 84-88; see Brief of Appellant, p. 13-16).

73, 24, S.E.2d 121 (1943); Fort Sumter Hotel v. S.C. Tax Comm., 201 S.C. 50, 21 S.E.2d 393, 396 (1942). Taken in context, the term "as nearly as practicable" means that a driver must remain in his single lane unless an exigent circumstance makes the operation of the vehicle in the single lane impossible. Other jurisdictions have construed this statutory term similarly. See People v. Smith, 665 N.E.2d 1215 (Ill. 1996); Texas Dep't of Public Safety v. Chang, 994 S.W.2d; State v. Hodge, 771 N.E.2d 331 (Ohio 2002); Unverzagt v. Prester, 13 A.2d 46 (Pa. 1940); Beech Fork Coal Co. v. Pocahontas Corp., 152 S.E.785 (W.Va. 1930); People. ex rel. Williams v. Errant, 82 N.E.271 (1907).

In Appellant's case, it is clear from the record and the video of the traffic stop that there were no exigent circumstances or adverse driving conditions making it impracticable for Appellant to stay entirely within his lane of travel. It was early afternoon on a clear day and Appellant was driving on a well-maintained, normal interstate. (See State's Exhibit #2, DVD, at 00:54:20-30). Significantly, after the officer explained the reason for the stop, i.e., Appellant's driving on top of the lane marker several times, Appellant made no claim that some emergency or road condition made it impracticable for him to stay within his lane. (See State's Exhibit #2, DVD, at 00:55:17-52). Accordingly, since Appellant failed to stay entirely within his lane despite the fact that it was "practicable" for him to do so, Deputy Gilbert had probable cause to stop Appellant's vehicle. See, e.g., State v. Williams, 351 S.C. at 598, 571 S.E.2d at 707 (the initiation of a traffic stop is reasonable *per se* when probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred).

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